### TORBAY COUNCIL

# Breaking the Chain Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy

2023 - 2030

#### Adding an image

- Open this template in the desktop version of Word,
- Double click the top of the page to access the 'header and footer section
- Select a suitable photograph contact the design team for access to the photo library. No clip art please!
- Choose 'insert' > 'pictures'>'this device' and navigate to the location of the saved image
- Once the image is inserted, resize to fill this space by dragging a corner, while holding the 'shift' key to prevent it distorting
- With the image selected, right click and select 'send to back' > 'send behind text' to move the image behind the coloured block above.
- Close the header and footer and continue editing your document. Don't forget to delete this text box!

# Contents

Foreword	3
Introduction	4
Definitions, framework and headlines	7
Definitions	7
Regional and Local Strategies	8
National Data on Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence	8
Torbay Domestic Abuse Headlines	9
Torbay Sexual Violence Data Headlines	9
Developing our strategy	11
What people have told us	13
Summary of Findings	16
What needs to change	17
Our Strategy	19
Short term outcomes	19
Medium term outcomes	19
Long term outcomes	20
Delivery of the outcomes	21
Activity 1 - Embed lived experience and co-production	21
Activity 2 - Prevent victimisation and harmful behaviours	21
Activity 3 – Identify victimisation and harmful behaviours	22
Activity 4 – Disrupt harmful behaviour	22
Activity 5 - Develop data and understanding	22
Resources	23
	23

## Foreword

To be added post public consultation:

Foreword from Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Executive Group Chair DASVEG chair, and lead portfolio holder (member) to be added, with reference to the phrase "Breaking the Chain

#### maximum 1 page

Needs to include reference to all the people with lived experience of domestic and/or sexual violence and abuse who took time to share their experiences and reflect on what would have been better for them, during the DVA strategic review and the Devon wide Sexual Violence Call to Action work that informs this document.

Warning - this document contains references and quotes that may be triggering for some people.

## Introduction

"it definitely started off completely mental, not physical, but it was just literally putting me down all the time. Keeping me in my place. Making sure I was where I was supposed to be"

Domestic abuse survivor, Torbay

Since our last Domestic Violence and Sexual Violence Strategy, which was launched in 2018, there have been a number of significant events and policy changes which have brought the emotive subjects of domestic violence and abuse (DVA) and sexual violence (SV) to the forefront of our attention.

Firstly, the Covid-19 pandemic led to an almost overnight change in the way front line domestic abuse and sexual violence services were delivered. Virtual (online) support, which had previously been unthinkable, became the norm. Practitioners and support workers had to develop skills in using unfamiliar technology to ensure they could still see clients face to face and keep them safe. Forensic services for victims of sexual violence had to find ways to continue to safely provide forensic examinations whilst keeping victims and their staff protected from the virus. Strategic partnerships between local authority domestic abuse and sexual violence commissioners, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Devon and Cornwall (OPCC) health colleagues in Devon and Cornwall Clinical Commissioning Groups, as well as Devon and Cornwall Police, became stronger and more robust. New relationships were forged as together we worked through the pandemic to listen to and learn from our services and communities to ensure victims and survivors of domestic abuse and/or sexual violence were able to access and receive support.

In 2021 the Domestic Abuse Act came into force, and amongst a range of measures - for the first time - a statutory duty was placed upon local authorities to provide support to victims of domestic violence living in what is defined as "safe accommodation" (such as a refuge). Importantly, the Act provides for children to be recognised as victims of domestic violence in their own right.

The same year brought the terrible crimes of sexual violence and murders of Sarah Everard and Sabina Nessa, and closer to home of Bobbi-Anne McCleod in Plymouth; and the advent of the "Everyone's Invited" campaign. Ofsted carried out a themed inspection of sexual harassment and abuse in schools. The Home Office produced its End to End Rape Review. Torbay undertook a Multi-Agency Case Audit of harmful sexual behaviour across Torbay.

Through all the events and change of this period, Torbay's Partnership commitment to addressing DVA and SV has remained steadfast with much progress being made in developing and expanding our response. Some key activities have included:

- Expanding number of Independent Domestic Violence Advocate roles, including within Torbay hospital, sexual health services and for LGBTQ community
- Specialist roles within Children's Services

- IRIS pilot established sensitive clinical enquiry enabling identification of domestic abuse and sexual violence in primary care
- White Ribbon re-accreditation
- Standing Tall DASV CVS Partnership developed and delivering support within the community
- Numerous training opportunities and awareness campaigns delivered
- Meeting statutory requirements of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021

In Torbay, the Council has procured a new Alliance of services that will work together - comprising the domestic abuse service, homeless hostel and the adults' drug and alcohol services. These services, which go live in 2023, will work collaboratively with the Council as equal partners to provide trauma informed, integrated and holistic support for people experiencing a range of challenges in their lives. Instead of having to move around between different services and organisations, people can engage with one service that will work with them to address the underlying causes of their issues and support people in the way that best works for them.

"We need services to talk and listen to us rather than talk at us"

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

Our understanding of the issues around domestic violence and the partnerships in which we work have matured considerably since the last Strategy was written. Sadly however, the same cannot be said of sexual violence. Sexual violence remains a taboo subject for general discussion, cloaked in discomfort and shrouded in prejudicial myths that are systemically prevalent. We have found there is an inadequacy of support for victims of sexual violence and assault, particularly if a criminal justice response is not wanted or is not successful. The rates for successful prosecution are low nationally and regionally.

In this Strategy we aim to elevate the issue of sexual violence and our systemic response to it so that it becomes equal to that of domestic violence. That is not to say that we will not continue to address and improve our response to domestic violence; instead that we approach this work in the knowledge that those experiencing sexual violence in Torbay receive limited support, unequal to the support received by those who experience domestic violence and abuse.

"It's a cultural thing. As soon as you say: 'I've been in a domestic violence relationship'. 'What did you do to deserve it? Or what did you do to annoy them' as if that makes it all okay"

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

To aid understanding and avoid stigmatisation we look to frame our conversations and language around relationships as this is the enduring context of most domestic abuse and sexual violence.

We fully acknowledge that DVA & SV is perpetrated against women and girls and is rooted in gender based patriarchal, misogynistic, historic and cultural norms. However, we want to make our response as inclusive as possible in consideration of the broader nuances of violence and abuse within relationships and in keeping with the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 definition of DVA, as well as gender identity and sexual orientation. As Torbay works to become a more trauma informed Council, we want to consider the impacts of trauma not only on victims and survivors of domestic and sexual violence and abuse, but also on those who are causing these harms; whilst still holding them fully accountable for their actions.

This Strategy is aligned to the **Council Fit for the Future** and **Thriving People** objectives set out in Torbay Council's Community and Corporate Plan, working in partnership to promote community resilience, promote good mental and physical health, and protect our children and young people.

# Definitions, framework and headlines

"...I didn't see that I was in an abusive relationship because it wasn't physical"

Domestic abuse survivor, Torbay

The list below sets out the key legislation, national policies and strategies relating to domestic violence and abuse and sexual violence:

Domestic Abuse Act 2021 National Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy 2021 End to End Rape Review 2021 Crown Prosecution Service Rape and Serious Sexual Offences Strategy (RASSO) 2020 The Victims Code (2020) Victim's Bill 2022 Police Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 - Serious Violence Duty Serious Crime Act 2015 Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act (2004) The Care Act 2014 The Children Act 1989 Police Response to Violence Against Women and Girls Final inspection report -Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (September 2021)

#### Definitions

The World Health Organisation defines sexual violence as:

"Any sexual act, attempt to obtain a sexual act, unwanted sexual comments, or advances, or acts to traffic, or otherwise directed, against a person's sexuality using coercion, by any person regardless of their relationship to the victim, in any setting including but not limited to home and work."

The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 defines domestic violence and abuse as follows:

Behaviour of a person ("A") towards another person ("B") is "domestic abuse" if:

A and B are each aged 16 or over and are personally connected to each other, and the behaviour is abusive.

Behaviour is "abusive" if it consists of any of the following:

- physical or sexual abuse;
- violent or threatening behaviour;
- controlling or coercive behaviour;
- economic abuse;

• psychological, emotional or other abuse; and it does not matter whether the behaviour consists of a single incident or a course of conduct.

"Economic abuse" means any behaviour that has a substantial adverse effect on B's ability to:

- acquire, use or maintain money or other property, or
- obtain goods or services.

For the purposes of this Act: A's behaviour may be behaviour "towards" B despite the fact that it consists of conduct directed at another person (for example, B's child).

#### **Regional and Local Strategies**

The following regional and local strategies are relevant:

Torbay Safe Accommodation Strategy 2021 to 2024

Devon Clinical Commissioning Group Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence GP Policy Devon & Cornwall Police Violence Against Women and Girls Delivery Plan 2022/2023

#### National Data on Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence

Sources: Crime Survey of England and Wales (CSEW) 2020; Office of National Statistics (ONS) 2020

- 74% of victims of DVA crimes recorded by police In the year ending March 2020 were female
- In the year 2020 to 2021 unwanted sexual touching was the most common type of sexual assault experienced by both men and women
- Of sexual offences recorded by the police in the year ending March 2020, the victim was female in 84% of cases. This is a prevalence rate of approximately 3 in 100 women and 1 in 100 men (ONS 2020)
- In 57% of all adult rape cases the victim feels unable to pursue the case
- One-third of all female SV victims were aged under 15 years old
- More than half (55%) of all male victims were aged under 15 years.
- Adults with a disability are more likely to have experienced DVA in the last 12 months than non-disabled people (CSEW 2020)
- People from black and minoritised ethnic communities suffer DVA for 1.5 times longer than those with White British or Irish backgrounds (Safelives 2020)
- LGBT+ victims of domestic abuse are more likely to be abused by multiple perpetrators -15% compared to 9% of non-LGBT+ victims (Safelives 2018)
- Adults are six times as likely to experience rape or assault by a partner or ex-partner than a family member (ONS 2020)

"...constantly having to, like, justify everything because your abusers of the same sex, and it's really, really difficult. Because it's like 'oh a woman is capable of doing

that?'. It's like 'yes, they're very capable'. A man is capable, a woman is capable, it doesn't matter. If somebody wants to be abusive, they're going to be abusive"-

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

"we're not just talking about t-shirt sizes, it doesn't fit all, genders don't fit all, religion, doesn't fit all, you know, and trauma doesn't feel, it's all different and we all come out of it differently"

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

### **Torbay Domestic Abuse Headlines**

- There were **2,005 police incidents** of domestic abuse in Torbay in 2020/21.
- Domestic abuse accounts for **22%** of all crimes in Torbay.
- 217 Marac referrals in 2020/21
- **72%** of victims reporting to the police over the past 3 years have been female (2018-21)
- 84% of domestic abuse offenders were male in 2020/21
- 126 Domestic Violence Protection Orders were granted in 2020/21
- Almost a quarter (24%) of DVA related crimes are for stalking and harassment.
- **80%** of DVA incidents are assessed as being standard or medium risk.
- **113** Victims of domestic abuse presented as homeless in Torbay in 2020-21
- It is projected that 30% (667) of referrals to Children's Services in 2020/21 had domestic abuse as a factor. 40% of these came from the police.
- 164 children became looked after were domestic abuse was a factor over the three years 2018-2021
- Almost half (47%) progressed to a Child Protection Plan
- It is estimated that only 33% of people experiencing DVA in Torbay are known to services

#### **Torbay Sexual Violence Data Headlines**

The data below is sourced from:

First Light Independent Sexual Violence Advocate (ISVA) service data 2021/22, Devon and Cornwall Police data provided to Torbay Council Community Safety Team Devon Rape Crisis service data Torbay Council online Are You OK survey 2021

- The police received 166 reports of rape in the year ending March 2022
- There were 264 sexual offences reported to the police in 2021/22

- 41.2% of all ISVA referrals in 2021/22 were from Devon (including Torbay)
- In 81% of cases, the person causing the harm was known to the victim
- In 43.5% of cases the person causing harm was a family member, relative, or partner/expartner
- In 2021/22 31% of referrals to Devon Rape Crisis were self-referrals, 36% were from mental health providers
- More than half of females responding to the Are You OK survey who had experienced sexual abuse/violence, said they had been raped
- **More than half** of both males and females survey respondents who had experienced sexual abuse/violence reported they had experienced inappropriate touching.
- 97% of those whose drinks had been spiked or thought they probably had been spiked were female
- 41% of survey respondents did not recognise it as sexual abuse or violence at the time and 13% were not sure.

Estimated of Proportion of Adults in Torbay who have experienced recent rape and/or sexual assault in the last 12 months, since the age of 16, or in childhood (based on self-reporting module of the CSEW<sup>1</sup> and MYE Population 2019):

Column heading	Males	Females
Since the age of 16	2,085	11,164
Last 12 months	406	1,542
In Childhood	1,655	5,613

"I thought it was you know, husband and wife or living partners. I didn't really think that domestic abuse applied to boyfriend and girlfriend"

Domestic abuse survivor, Torbay

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Local Authority Population Estimates MYE 2019 - https://tinyurl.com/ybzvaomb

# Developing our strategy

"So it was controlling, it's like walking on eggshells. You just, you know, something flared up, you kind of try and diffuse a situation as quickly as you can"

Domestic abuse survivor

In 2021 the Torbay Community Safety Partnership commissioned a strategic review of the system response to domestic violence in Torbay. The result was 241 pages of analysis of the strengths, weaknesses and identifiable areas for change across the system's responses. It produced 44 recommendations of how and where improvements could be made, with further recommendations from accompanying reports. This work also incorporated:

- a review of Torbay's Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC),
- the Safe Accommodation Needs Assessment (as required by the Domestic Abuse Act 2021- DAA21)
- a lived experience listening exercise
- analysis of the responses to the Council's online Are You OK? Survey conducted in late 2021.

The findings and recommendations from these activities have been collated to inform the direction and focus of this new Strategy and will be directly referenced in it's Delivery Plan. A summary of the Strategic Review, MARAC review and Listening Exercise is included as an Appendix.

The Safe Accommodation Strategy 2021 (required by the DAA21) sits beneath this Strategy.

Torbay Council also participated in the Call to Action sexual violence project with Devon County Council, Plymouth City Council, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, Devon Clinical Commissioning Group, and the Innovation Unit. This included a mapping exercise of the support available to victims of sexual violence across wider Devon, and a listening exercise with people who have experienced sexual violence and abuse and practitioners working with them. The aim was to develop an understanding of what support victims and survivors want and need to help them recover and make sense of what has happened to them. The findings from this project have provided the strategic direction for sexual violence. In addition data about sexual violence services and demand has been gathered to inform a local position statement on sexual violence in Torbay.

There are some areas of DVA & SV activity which, out of necessity and pragmatism fit more appropriately with, for example, the children's safeguarding arena. This Strategy aims to consider DVA & SV in the context of a whole system response across the life course. The exclusion of some areas of work could lead to fragmentation and poor oversight of the overall strategic response. This risk will be addressed through the oversight and governance structures in place, ensuring connectivity and line of sight between the main DVA & SV strategy and related strategies

or workstreams. Changes to the strategic direction or areas of focus resulting from legislative or policy changes will be incorporated into reviews of the strategy.

The scope of this Strategy includes adult victims of domestic abuse and violence (i.e. those aged 16+) and adult victims of sexual violence (including historic child sexual abuse).

The scope includes children and young people who are victims of domestic violence and abuse and who are occupying safe accommodation with their parent/carer as part of the DAA21 duties, as well as the wider needs of children and families experiencing DVA. They are statutorily defined victims in own right. We know that we need to better understand the profile of children and families who experience domestic violence and abuse to mature the system response.

Issues which are out of the scope of this Strategy are:

- Child Sexual Abuse this is within the remit of Torbay Safeguarding Children's Partnership (TSCP)
- Child Sexual Exploitation this is included in the TSCP Exploitation Strategy
- Child against Parent Violence and Abuse (CAPVA) this is within the remit of Children's Services; except for those aged 16 and over which can be raised at MARAC where risk level indicates
- Peer on Peer abuse this is in the remit of Children's Services except where both parties are aged 16 and over and there is evidence of coercive control. These will be raised at MARAC where risk level indicates.
- Human Trafficking this is within the remit of the Devon and Torbay Anti-Slavery Partnership
- Prostitution this within the remit of the Devon and Torbay Anti-Slavery Partnership.

The draft Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy was published for public consultation from 18th October to 29th November 2022

An overview summary of the review findings document available at: insert link

"..it takes a while to get into and realise 'oh I can have a phone. I can wear t-shirt in the sun. I can put makeup on'

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

".... people need to be carried. Because you don't have the, just don't have the will to walk anymore. And for some of them, absolute horror, some of them don't have to will to live anymore"

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

"We need the voices of children, young people, communities and people with lived experience to inform us about what activity we should take"

Call to Action project participant

People don't always know that what they have experienced is domestic violence or sexual assault. This might be because they are not living together (so it's not "domestic"), it's not physical violence but coercion and control, or a rape took place within marriage. Some said that they did not feel what had happened was sufficiently serious to report to the police, many felt that they would not be believed.

Many described negative experiences of the system when they did report domestic violence or abuse to the Police, and Children's Services becoming involved having been alerted by the Police. Women spoke of feeling that they were being held accountable for the behaviour of the person causing the harm, because they had to take all the responsibility for protecting their children. Meanwhile the person who had harmed them was ignored or "invisible". Many felt that professionals did not understand how domestic abuse affected their ability to take action, nor of how the Family Court system re-traumatises the victim survivor and their children and allows the person who caused the harm to continue to exercise control over them.

".... I'd call the police. They said, 'don't open the door', but that's okay when they tell you not to open the door, but what they do is, they report it to social services. And social services then say that you're not protecting your kids. But you tell me how that works, if you phone the police and the police come and you've obviously phoned the police to get them removed and they removed them, how's that not you protecting your kids?"

Domestic Abuse Survivor, Torbay

"when you leave the abusive relationship that escalates the domestic violence more. But what people don't understand is it escalates even more four years, five years down the line. They get really, really bitter. And that's when they fight and they'll fight until they're blue in the face"

Domestic Abuse Survivor, Torbay

Those people who left their abusive relationships spoke of the difficulties finding somewhere to live and of navigating the rehousing process with the Council.

"the one thing that seems so hard at first was actually housing. It was literally one thing is you have nowhere to go. And first, obviously when I walked down that road, the first day, the hardest bit was walking and realising my children were still there. And so it was 'where am I gonna go?'"

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

People feel guilt and shame about what has happened to them. This is reinforced by the prevailing myths and negative stereotyping surrounding rape and sexual assault, which hold the victim responsible for their attack because they were out late/drinking/of what they were wearing and so on. This is compounded by negative national media about the police – including sexual offences carried out by serving officers – the low conviction rate, the time it takes to progress to court (if the case does go to court), and the re-traumatisation of the court proceedings for what is often an unsuccessful outcome.

We heard that sexual violence is complex, often taking place in an intra-familial context, with patterns of behaviour repeating into the next generation. Victims and survivors of sexual violence suffer trauma long into adulthood – the stories we heard, information from Devon Rape Crisis, and the feedback in the Are You Ok survey show that many victims of Child Sexual Abuse (CSA) don't disclose their experiences until many years after the event/s occurred. People are holding years of unresolved trauma that can present in a number of ways – through poor mental health, physical illness, or self-medication in the form of substance misuse for example. When a number of these factors co-exist, we see people who might be rough sleeping, some being coerced into prostitution by drug dealers in order to feed their habit; adding to their sense of shame and poor self-worth.

"some people are so traumatised, that it's hard for them to reach out for help. It doesn't mean that they don't want help, it just means that person is a bit more fragile...... Spend time and I'll open up with you and you'll see that I'm not that person and I need more help than what I ever let onto"

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

Practitioners working in a range of support services – not specialist rape and sexual assault services and including the community and voluntary sector – spoke of the challenges in trying to help victims who disclose sexual violence during support. The fragmented funding and commissioning arrangements for sexual violence services mean that there is a "postcode lottery" of support with very limited support in Torbay itself, making it difficult for both victim survivors and practitioners to navigate. The services that exist tend to be in Exeter or Plymouth and have long waiting lists. This sometimes leaves practitioners who are not trained in working with victims of sexual violence and trauma, "holding" the person because there is no specialist support immediately available to them. This is risky for both the practitioner and the individual.

Examples have been provided that demonstrate the "silo" nature of working in the system, with sexual violence victims being referred to mental health services because of their trauma, only to be referred on to a sexual violence service – there is limited recognition of the long term impacts of trauma. As the Chief Executive of Devon Rape Crisis told us:

"people are being referred to [Devon Rape Crisis] if they have any history of sexual violence or abuse, regardless of whether this is causing the most difficulty for them or not".

When support is obtained, it is often constrained by time or a restricted number of support sessions is available. Victims of sexual violence may not want a criminal justice response and just want to be listened to by someone who understands their experience. Some may want to follow the criminal justice process a period of time after the incident/s, others want to be able to access support at different points of the process but don't have the choice.

"I think I would have found it easier if I was talking to somebody else who had been through it, rather than somebody who hadn't."

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

There is limited availability of targeted support for victims and survivors of sexual violence in Torbay. Much of what is available is not directly funded or commissioned by statutory agencies and is instead reliant on non- recurrent short term grant arrangements, or in some cased "topped up" with grant funding. This means that the support provision is insecure and therefore unstable.

Finally, loud concerns were voiced around the role of pornography on social media and how this is impacting on the attitudes and behaviours of children and young people. The suggested solutions to this were several and wide ranging – and cannot be solved through the Relationships and Sex Education curriculum in isolation.

We did also hear stories that were positive and complimentary about the support people had received, including praise for individual workers, organisations, and agencies. Those that shared

their stories with us wanted to make sure that their experiences were used to make things better for others.

### Summary of Findings

While some of the quotes below are from survivors of domestic abuse, the underpinning narrative of lack of belief, victim stereotyping and re-traumatisation are equally as applicable to people who have experienced sexual violence:

"....they just need to believe the person that's sat in front of them. That's all anybody needed to do for me, and nobody did it. Nobody believed me"

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

"You hear this criticism all the time about 'Oh, why did she go back to him?' It's very obvious why women go back, because they're convinced that it's their fault, that they deserve to be mistreated and it's so bloody difficult to get away. It's so hard"

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

"I was a person that was middle age by that stage. I did have a disability and I was challenged because people often discriminated against me because of my race."

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

"Feels like the system is organised to support perpetrators not victims."

Call to Action project participant

"The onus is on you to get out and escape, it kind of enables the abuser, doesn't it?"

Domestic Abuse Survivor, Torbay

"The whole court scenario is just horrendous. Family court is just the worst experience anyone could ever go through ever. So you go through all this horrible abuse, you try to come the other side and then you have to face family courts, where they tear you and your children apart in front of you..."

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

From all of the feedback that has been received, there are many consistent messages that have been heard. These can be summarised as follows:

- Victims don't report because they think they won't be believed
- Victims are not always sure that what they have experienced is DVA/SV
- Victims are fearful of repercussions if they report, especially they fear statutory interventions (e.g. having their children removed) because the police inform Children's Services when they receive a report
- Victims who do report have negative experiences
- System focuses on the victim rather than placing accountability on the person who harmed them
- Victims find it difficult to find a safe place to live if they choose to leave
- System responses are not trauma informed instead they re-traumatise
- Risk management by the MARAC could be more effective
- Culture of victim blaming and myths evident within parts of the system
- Limited or no understanding of the needs of victims from minoritised communities, or those with multiple and intersectional needs
- Lack of consistent and coordinated data recording the strategic response is not always evidence based
- Response to sexual violence is limited and immature despite having a high public profile
- Voice of victims is unheard in strategic response
- People feel shame, guilt, blame and anger
- Victims and survivors of sexual violence feel let down by those supposed to help them and that their experiences are minimalised or not believed
- People want choice around when and how they access support.

#### What needs to change

"...I wasn't listened to, I was belittled. Can you imagine being stood in a dock with no, you've got no legal representation. Yet you've been told by judges and told by social services that the domestic violence isn't an issue now, because you're not in it. Now, my child is now suffering. He has a tracker on his phone when he's with me. So I'm being trapped when my son's with me. There's nothing I can do. I can't afford to go to court and if I could go back in time, I'd stay with him, I wouldn't have left him. I wouldn't. Because there's no ongoing support"

Domestic Abuse Survivor, Torbay

"Our society doesn't want to talk about sex so to talk about sexual abuse and intrafamilial harm is an underlying issue to address - we all need to feel confident to do this."

Call to Action project

Based on all of the information collected, the following areas for change can be identified:

- We must listen to the voices of those with Lived Experience if we want to design services and responses that will effectively address DASV
- Understanding and addressing Sexual Violence must be brought to the forefront as it is the poor relation to DVA
- We must manage risk more effectively BUT
- We must stop holding the victim responsible for the behaviour of the person harming/who has harmed them
- We must believe victims and validate them to build trust and safety
- The system must stop re-traumatising victims
- We must address the fear of reporting otherwise we will not address the causal link between high levels of DVA and the fear of statutory interventions
- We must better understand the needs of minoritised groups and those with intersectional needs so we can respond to them
- We need to understand the different drivers and typologies of DA & SV
- Professionals and practitioners must understand the dynamics of power and control and the power they hold as actors within the system
- We must accept discomfort in order to challenge cultural norms and attitudes in the system
- We must accept that not all victims and survivors want a criminal justice response
- We must collect consistent, meaningful data and use it to inform and develop the system response.

# Our Strategy

".. So, if you had somewhere where, you know, people that have been victims in the past could help people that were victims now, then that would be amazing because I don't think anybody else would believe it."

Domestic Abuse survivor, Torbay

We know that we need to strengthen the strategic response to domestic and sexual violence and abuse in Torbay and have built a strong base of evidence to inform our work over the life course of this Strategy:

There needs to be trauma-informed support for victims and survivors and their families.

We need to prevent harm in the first place whilst disrupting harmful behaviour and holding those who harm accountable.

We know that victims and survivors don't report because they fear system generated reprisals or do not think they will be believed. We recognise that sexual violence is the poor relation to domestic abuse in terms of the strategic response.

We want to:

# Work in partnership with organisations, communities and individuals to tackle domestic abuse and sexual violence in Torbay, to enable our residents to live safe and happy lives.

In delivering this ambition, we have identified the outcomes that we want to achieve over the short, medium and long term.

### Short term outcomes

- People understand that domestic abuse is not just physical and can occur in any intimate relationships
- People understand consent, and that rape and sexual assault can occur in intimate relationships.
- Victims and survivors know that they will be believed.
- Victims and survivors know how and where to get advice on their options in a range of ways, that responds to what they say they need at the time.
- The response to domestic violence and abuse is designed with victims and survivors, and informed by their lived experiences and needs

#### Medium term outcomes

 Victims and survivors receive peer support and advice before, during and after their experiences to help them recover.

- People who harm others by using domestic and/or sexual violence and abuse are identified and disrupted.
- Professionals understand the impacts of DVA/SVA and trauma on victims and survivors and/or their families and the coping mechanisms they use to keep themselves and their children safe.
- Professionals and statutory agencies understand the range of ways that people who harm use and continue to use coercive control and harassment to continue to abuse long after relationship has ended.

#### Long term outcomes

- Services and interventions are informed by a developing evidence base supported by robust data and monitoring of trends; including understanding why people who harm do and the typologies of harmful behaviour.
- The strategic system response to sexual violence is prioritised and continually evaluated to achieve parity with the DVA response.

# Delivery of the outcomes

"Be compassionate and hold people safely when they disclose"

Call to Action Project participant

We will undertake five key activities to meet the outcomes we want to achieve:

- 1. Embed lived experience and co-production
- 2. Prevent victimisation and harmful behaviours
- 3. Identify victimisation and harmful behaviours
- 4. Disrupt harmful behaviour
- 5. Develop data and understanding

Across all these activities we will work to the following principles and will proactively encourage and challenge others to do so:

- Connect different parts of the system together to create a coordinated community response to domestic abuse and sexual violence
- Hear and learn from people with lived experience
- Be trauma informed and shame sensitive
- Make the best use of existing resources and assets
- Elevate, develop, and improve our responses to sexual violence.

For each activity an action plan will be developed and will include various workstreams.

#### Activity 1 - Embed lived experience and co-production

We will:

- Develop mechanisms to hear and learn from people with experience of DA&SV
- Ensure contributions are recognised, valued, and appropriately reimbursed
- Utilise and build upon existing community assets

#### Activity 2 - Prevent victimisation and harmful behaviours

We will:

- Grow the Healthy Relationships Education offer
- Implement the findings from the Harmful Sexual Behaviour Project
- Frame awareness raising and communications in the context of relationships
- Develop the Bystander training offer
- Increase the pool of DA Champions and White Ribbon Ambassadors
- Implement relational approaches across the system

 Challenge cultural norms and attitudes in respect of victims of sexual violence and domestic abuse

### Activity 3 – Identify victimisation and harmful behaviours

We will:

- Exercise belief and let victims know they will be and are believed
- Identify early people who harm others and work with them to address their behaviour
- Develop a skilled workforce that are confident in handling disclosures of DVA &/or SV and know what to do next (competency framework)
- Ensure that people working with victims and survivors of DVA & SV have an understanding of trauma (including judiciary)
- Ensure that services are inclusive and understand how DVA &SV may present differently amongst minority communities
- Establish simple pathways that easily connect services
- Ensure compliance with statutory requirements

### Activity 4 - Disrupt harmful behaviour

We will:

- Implement the MARAC review recommendations
- Establish pathways to support for those who harm others
- Ensure effective safety planning and risk management with focus on the person causing the harm
- Ensure a co-ordinated approach to disrupt the person causing harm
- Focus on the person who harms, not the victim
- Develop peer support and recovery options in the community for victims and survivors

### Activity 5 - Develop data and understanding

We will:

- Develop wider understanding of the different types of behaviour and motivations of those who harm to improve our system response to them and better protect victims and survivors
- Establish consistent data collection and monitoring including for protected characteristics and people with intersectional needs
- Establish a baseline dataset and evaluation to check how we are doing
- Consider a systems/case management system to improve reporting
- Develop a quality assurance approach to ensure the system response meets the needs and aspirations of victims and survivors

### Resources

The Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Executive Group (DASVEG) will be responsible for strategic oversight of this Strategy and delivery of the action plans. This group also acts as the statutory Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board for the purposes of the Domestic Abuse 2021 Part 4 and the delivery of the associated Safe Accommodation Strategy.

The Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Operational Group (DASVOG) will be responsible for undertaking the work required in the Delivery Plan. This includes connecting with other agencies and practitioners and involving them in specific workstreams.

DASVEG reports into Torbay Community Safety Partnership, Torbay Children's Safeguarding Partnership, and the Health and Wellbeing Board.

#### Review

The activity action plan will be kept under review to ensure that we are achieving our outcomes. As part of that review, consideration will be given to whether this Strategy remains fit for purpose. This will include consideration of the impact of any significant change in legislation or policy. This document can be made available in other languages and formats. For more information please contact \*\*insert your team email or phone no here\*\*